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BASIC DETAILS 

 

Listing      Grade I 

Built        late 1500s 

Leasehold acquired by Landmark  1979 

Architect during restoration:  Paul Pearn of Pearn & Procter 

Partnership 

 

Builders & plasterwork   J. Trivett & Co. 

Foreman:       Philip Ford 

Work completed     1981 
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Summary 
 

Gatehouses have an ancestry going back to the Middle Ages. The spur for their 

development came with the change in the 12th and 13th centuries from castles with a 

single impregnable keep, to the more familiar type, which had its strength concentrated 

in an outer curtain wall. The weakest point in the defences was the entrance, which 

therefore needed the strongest fortification; and so appeared a new type of building - 

the gatehouse. Most domestic gatehouses date from the late 14th and 15th centuries. 

When life became more peaceful from the late 15th century, gatehouses gradually came 

to be regarded as status symbols to impress rather than as a means of protection. 

 

Shute was originally a medieval house behind, much enlarged and remodelled around 

1500 by Cicely Bonville who married Thomas Grey, Marquess of Dorset. In 1554 the 

Grey’s house was forfeited to the Crown, eventually being sold to William Pole of 

Colyton, who made it his home. It was probably his son, Sir William Pole, a writer and 

Antiquary who built the gatehouse after succeeding in 1587. With its battlements and 

possibly genuine medieval gargoyles, the style is consciously antiquarian. During the 

restoration by the Landmark Trust, evidence was discovered that the window on the top 

floor had once formed a nearly continuous band with the windows in the turrets, in 

keeping with the ‘more glass than wall’ fashion of the time. 

  

With windows of this kind allowing a ‘fair prospect’ it is likely that the upper room was 

used as a belvedere or outlook, probably to watch the hunt taking place in the old deer 

park on the hill opposite. On its other side, the gatehouse would have opened into a 

forecourt or courtyard, and there is evidence that the gatehouse was at least roughly 

aligned on the porch in the main front of the old house.  

 

After the building activity at Shute in the 15th and 16th centuries, little more was done 

for two hundred years, and it is likely that for most of the 18th century the house saw 

only the minimum of maintenance. With Shute by this time probably dilapidated, John 

William Pole, who had inherited Shute as a three-year old orphan, set about building a 

new Shute House, on an entirely new site, in the light and restrained style of Robert 

Adam. He preserved the old gatehouse as an interesting entrance to his newly 

landscaped park, with the drive passing through it and on up to his modern mansion on 

the hill. Unfortunately, the greater part of the old Bonville house blocked the intended 

route, and so this was demolished, leaving only what might have been the medieval 

high end, as adapted in the Tudor period. Round the gatehouse itself, the ground was 

made to run up to parapet height on refashioned screen walls.  

 

What is not known is whether the gatehouse was lived in as well as the side lodges. 

Census returns from 1841 show the buildings to be occupied by a variety of families, 

probably employed on the farm or estate.  

 

The final stages 

During the 1870s the two side lodges were taken down and replaced by the existing 

pavilions, which echo the Elizabethan architecture of the gatehouse itself. In 1926, the 

Shute estate was inherited by Sir John Carew-Pole. He lived at Antony in Cornwall, and 

so not requiring Shute House, it became a girls’ school in 1933. Shute Barton continued 

as a tenant farm until, after being empty for some time, Sir John repaired it and gave it 

to the National Trust in 1959. 
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The last people to live in the gatehouse were the Newbys. Mr Newby was a caretaker to 

the school, and his wife, Mary, the daughter of a former agent for the Shute estate, 

continued to live on in the gatehouse after her husband’s death, without running water 

or electricity until about 1958, when ill-health forced her to move out. It remained empty 

from then until 1981, with the arrival of the first Landmark clients. 

 

The repair of the Gatehouse 
When The Landmark Trust first saw Shute gatehouse in 1978, it was decaying rapidly. 

The Trustees agreed to a lease from the National Trust and appointed Paul Pearn as the 

architect, responsible for the restoration of several Landmarks. The builders were J. 

Trivett & Co. whose foreman Philip Ford went on to work directly for Landmark for a 

number of years. 

 

Much of the work consisted of redoing what had been not very well done in the 19th 

century. The badly constructed roof was replaced with a more sensible one reusing the 

existing slates. Problems of damp were largely caused by cement render on the back 

and side walls. Once hacked off, the underlying stonework was worse than expected. 

The parapet and north east wall next to the stair were found to be in danger of collapse, 

necessitating a concrete ring beam to hold it all together. 

 

The parapet itself was rebuilt, using where necessary, the original Beer limestone from 

the same quarry a few miles away. The back and side walls were given a new coat of 

lime-based render so allowing the walls to breathe. On the front, the local flint-like 

stone, Chert, was lightly cleaned, and new Beer stone let in to the window surrounds 

and mullions. The walls of the gatehouse and the screen walls were repointed with lime 

mortar, and the crenellations patched with new stone. The upper pavilion, being in 

better condition and nearer to the front door, was chosen as an extra bedroom.  

 

The interior had suffered badly from the damp and most of the joinery was beyond 

repair. Sadly, this included the 17th-century overmantel of a fireplace that had been 

inserted in the lower room where the bathroom now is. Several of the joists of the 

upper floor had rotted, and these had to be jacked up and supported with steel angle 

irons. 

 

The plan was to reverse the 19th-century layout, and have the upper room, with its 

original fireplace and better views, as a single room again, with the lower floor 

containing the bedrooms. New joinery - floorboards, skirtings, doors and the stairs - 

was needed throughout, and old well-seasoned pine was used, the stair being a near 

copy of the original. The doors were based on a design that was common around 1600. 

The lead in the casement windows needed renewing, but where possible the old glass 

was re-used. 

 

There has been one addition - the fish ceiling. It dates from about 1620, and came from 

No. 7 Cross Street, Barnstaple, a house demolished in the 1930s. North Devon District 

Council had kept it in store, but had finally come to the conclusion that they must 

dispose of it, for lack of space. When they heard of the restoration of Shute Gatehouse, 

however, they very generously offered it to us. It arrived at Shute in pieces which had to 

be assembled with great care, the missing areas filled in, and a new pendant formed. 

All this was done by Trivett’s craftsmen. 
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Undergrowth was cleared from the building, and as some very fine elms in front of the 

gatehouse had died of Dutch elm disease, they were cut down and the ground was 

levelled and laid out as a green. 

Introduction 

The surroundings of Shute Gatehouse have changed greatly since it was built in 

the reign of Queen Elizabeth, but because of its own venerable appearance, 

writers until recently tended to assume the gatehouse itself to be a complete 

survival. However, it too has seen a number of changes, both in the 1780s and 

later, as we shall see. Remarkably, these were all carried out in a way that 

blended in well with its original appearance and character.  

 

The main change in the building's setting has been the demolition of much of 

the house behind it, on the porch of which it was aligned. This house was built 

by the Bonvilles, one of the leading families in the South West, who owned 

Shute from 1295. It had been remodelled and enlarged around 1500 by the 

heiress Cicely Bonville, who married Thomas Grey, Marquess of Dorset. In 1554, 

it was forfeited to the Crown on the execution of her grandson, the Duke of 

Suffolk, over-ambitious father of Lady Jane Grey, the tragic Nine Days' Queen.  

 

Shute was given to the Secretary of State, Sir William Petre, who in 1561 sold 

the house to William Pole of Colyton, who made it his home. Either he or his son 

Sir William, a writer and Antiquary who succeeded in 1587, added the 

gatehouse. The next Pole was made a Baronet. It was his descendant, John 

William, 6th Baronet, who demolished half of old Shute House about 1787, and 

replaced it with a new house on higher ground. The surviving part of the old 

house was subsequently repaired and became a farmhouse, called Shute 

Barton. 

 

Christopher Hussey in two articles in Country Life in February 1951 interpreted 

what was left as the entire medieval house, as described by Sir William Bonville 

in his will of 1408, and added to by Cicely Bonville.  However, the revised Devon 

volume of The Buildings of England (1989), is more cautious. Much of what 
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survives is medieval, but much that was also medieval - rather than Tudor, as 

Hussey supposed - has clearly been lost. Most significantly, there is no sign of a 

great ground floor hall, possibly because this was always in the vanished range  

 
 

The first edition of the Ordnance Survey 25” to 1 mile map, of 1888. 
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opposite the gatehouse. The National Trust guidebook follows Hussey, but 

suggests that the early hall ran the full height of the south-east range, was later 

divided horizontally and a kitchen inserted below it. It is safe to say that Shute 

Barton is a much altered, and intriguing, medieval building. 

 

In 1959, Shute Barton, with the gatehouse, passed to the National Trust. In 1979, 

the Landmark Trust took a lease of the gatehouse and, with Paul Pearn as 

architect and Trivetts as builders, set about its repair, aided by a legacy from 

Miss Gladys Calthrop and a grant from the Historic Buildings Council. 

 

 

Gatehouses in general 

 

The gatehouse as we see it at Shute has an ancestry that goes back to the early 

Middle Ages. By the time of Elizabeth, the purpose of such buildings was largely 

decorative, but their beginnings were entirely functional, and defensive. The 

spur came with the development of castles during the 12th and 13th centuries. 

From the Norman model of a single impregnable keep surrounded by only a 

semi-defensible bailey, they evolved into the more familiar type which had its 

strength concentrated in an outer curtain wall, punctuated by towers, with the 

whole space inside left free for permanent buildings. 

 

The weakest point in the defences was the entrance to this enclosure, which 

therefore needed the strongest fortification; and so there appeared a new type of 

building, the gatehouse. One or more mighty flanking towers would stand on 

either side of the arched gateway, linked by a battlemented wall concealing a 

wall walk. This pattern of gatehouse remained an important ingredient of castle 

design until the end of the Middle Ages, still being built at Hurstmonceaux, 

Sussex, around 1440. 
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The gatehouse at Markenfield Hall, Yorkshire dates from 1310. 

 

 

 
 

Lower Brockhampton Gatehouse, is late 15th-century. 

(National Trust). 
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Religious institutions were quick to take up the idea, especially during times of 

unrest in the 14th century when they were frequently raided because of their 

actual, and supposed, wealth. Before long most cathedral closes and 

monasteries - Battle Abbey for example - and bishop's palaces such as those at 

Wells and Chichester, were all equipped with a stout encircling wall and a solidly 

built gatehouse, whose heavy doors could be closed at will against intruders. A 

more humble example is the 14th-century stone gateway which protected the 

entrance to St Mary's Priory at Bromfield in Shropshire, now part of another 

Landmark.  

 

The secular manor house also had need of protection in times of unrest, 

sometimes provided by a moat and a palisade, sometimes by a stone wall and a 

gatehouse, sometimes by a combination of both. Most of these domestic 

gatehouses date from the late 14th and 15th centuries, as life outside the castle 

became possible, even if still safest in a fortified manor house. Earlier examples 

are Markenfield Hall, Yorkshire, of about 1310, and North-borough Manor, 

Northamptonshire, of about 1340; from the 15th century come Tretower Court in 

Breconshire, Cothay Manor in Somerset and Lower Brockhampton in 

Herefordshire. 

 

In the more peaceful period at the end of the 15th century and in the early 16th 

century, the gatehouse began to change its character. It gradually came to be 

regarded as more of a status symbol than a means of protection; to impress 

your visitor with the wealth and magnificence he would discover when he had 

entered in, more than your ability to keep him out. This effect was achieved in a 

number of ways:  by heraldry at Thornbury Castle, which has ranks of carved 

coats of arms to show off the powerful connections of the over-mighty Duke of 

Buckingham; and similarly at another Landmark, Cawood Castle, palace of 

Archbishop Kempe of York; or by a show of architectural high fashion in an 

ornate oriel window at Hengrave Hall, Suffolk; or most extravagantly by the 
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lavish use of terracotta moulded into Classical forms, the latest arrival from Italy, 

at Layer Marney in Essex.   
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Layer Marney Tower, Colchester 

 

 
 

The gatehouse at Charlecote Park, Warwickshire in the early 1900s. 
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Another method was to build your gatehouse taller than anyone else's. Layer 

Marney is again the most extreme example of this, but it was preceded by 

Oxburgh Hall, Norfolk, and Cardinal Wolsey's Hampton Court, as well as by Eton 

College. Brick was found to be the most suitable material, but stone was 

occasionally used, at Cowdray House in Sussex for example. 

 

The ornamental gatehouse continued to be very popular throughout the 16th 

century, either as an integral part of an entirely new house, as at Charlecote 

Park, Warwickshire, begun in 1558, or to update an existing one, as at 

Landmark's Tixall Gatehouse of 1580, with its confident display of Classical 

carving in stone. 

 

All gatehouses, besides a porter's lodge, had at least one room over the gate 

arch. What this was used for varied from place to place. Most often it was a 

lodging or apartment, either for a guest or for a permanent household official - 

or for several of each if the building was on the grand scale, containing 39 

rooms as at Layer Marney. Occasionally it seems to have served as an oratory 

(as possibly in the old gatehouse of Shute Barton); or more often as a 

courtroom, as at Morpeth Castle in Northumberland (yet another Landmark). In 

the Elizabethan examples, with their oriels, large windows and fireplaces, the 

whole building was occasionally treated as a garden pavilion or belvedere, to 

which the family and their guests could go for entertainment.  
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Shute Gatehouse in particular 

 

Shute Gatehouse fits into the category of ornamental gatehouse, displaying its 

builder's importance as a landowner and local magnate. In its style it also 

alludes to the medieval ancestry both of his house, and of his own family, which 

derived from Cheshire but had also been settled in Devon for many generations 

and was able to trace descent through the female line from the Bonvilles. That 

they were doing their best to establish themselves as a considerable family is 

born out by the senior William Pole's grandiose tomb in Colyton church, with its 

shield bearing fourteen quarterings. At the same time, it may have been as a 

pleasure building that the new gatehouse was actually to be used. 

 

The date given for its building is variously about 1570, and by the first William 

Pole therefore, soon after he had bought the house from Sir William Petre in 

1561and the estate in 1563; or late Elizabethan, say after 1585, and so more 

probably the work of his son, Sir William the Antiquary. The Pole arms on its 

front would fit with either (as would the panel on the back, in which the arms of 

the Poles of Cheshire are quartered with those of the Poles of Devon, if it did not 

look more 17th-century in style, as if put there later).  

 

Although he is often said to have been ‘of Colcombe', nearby, Sir William in fact 

lived equally at Shute for nearly thirty years after succeeding to the estate in 

1587. Although he handed the house on to his own son on the latter’s marriage 

in 1613, it was not until after 1618 that he moved to Colcombe, where he had 

remodelled the Courtenay family's `castle'. Taking all this into account, the 

balance tilts slightly in his favour as the builder of the castellated gatehouse at 

Shute. 

 

With its battlements and possibly genuine medieval gargoyles, the style of the 

gatehouse is consciously antiquarian. It thus fits in well with the romantic 
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medieval revival of the late Elizabethans in general, and Sir William in particular. 

Whether it was meant to echo the style of the house itself, or whether the house  
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went through a similar antiquarian phase, we don't know - though the north east 

stair turret has similar gargoyles and the initials WP on a door surround. 

 

The gatehouse was once typically late Elizabethan in another way. Evidence 

found during the Landmark's building work showed that in its front the window 

on the top floor formed a nearly continuous band with the windows in the 

turrets. The window below also looks as if it was once wider. This would 

definitely be in keeping with the ‘more glass than wall' fashion of the later years 

of Elizabeth's reign. 

 

With windows of this kind, the upper room must have enjoyed wide views, a 

‘fair prospect' in the language of the day. With its fireplace, it could of course 

have been the main room of a two room apartment or lodging. Equally it could 

have been intended precisely for the purpose to which it is best suited, as a 

belvedere or outlook. The Elizabethans, and the Jacobeans after them, were not 

particularly interested in looking at the countryside for its own sake, however. 

They liked something to look at, an intricately laid out garden or sporting activity 

of some kind. At Shute, as at a number of other houses, it would most probably 

have been the hunt that they watched, taking place in the old deer park on the 

hill opposite. 

 

On its other side, the gatehouse would have opened into a forecourt or large 

courtyard. As already mentioned, there is evidence that the gatehouse was at 

least roughly aligned on the porch in the main front of the old house:  in the 17th 

century, Sir Courtenay Pole, 2nd Baronet, recorded planting fourteen sycamores 

‘between the gatehouse and the porch on either side of the causey' - a raised 

path or drive running across the possibly muddy yard. 

 

Around the forecourt there are likely to have been other buildings, stables and 

suchlike. Within it, the ground was almost certainly at one, lower, level, both at 

the sides of the drive and around the gatehouse. An old view of the south east 
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or garden front of old Shute House shows the ground on that side running back 

to what seems to be a retaining wall, with steps leading up to the level of the 

church. The same probably happened on the north west. The moulding of a 

building into the landscape as we see it now is more characteristic of the 

romanticism of the late Georgians than the Elizabethans. 

 

The present high screen walls on either side of the gatehouse are no doubt 

largely the product of the same landscaping phase. Like it they are built of the 

local flint-like stone, called Chert, with dressed Beer limestone. They probably 

replace, and even incorporate, earlier and lower walls, visible front and back and 

enclosing the forecourt in the normal way. The entrance to the rooms over the 

gate arch would have been by outside steps.  

 

More problematical are the buildings or gazebos at the ends of the walls. It is by 

no means certain, indeed, that there were buildings there at all when the 

gatehouse was built. No illustration has been found which shows their 

appearance before the mid-19th century. All we know is that they only took on 

their present appearance in the 1870s. 
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The Gatehouse as scenery 

 

After the building activity at Shute in the 15th and 16th centuries, little more was 

done for two hundred years. Sir Courtenay, the 2nd Baronet, who lived until 

1695, made some alterations inside the house but was more interested in the 

park and garden. He planted trees in large numbers all over the estate. Sir 

William, the 4th Baronet, who succeeded in 1708 and lived until 1741, was 

Master of the Household to Queen Anne, and spent much of his time at Court. 

His son, Sir John, died young in 1760, leaving an infant son who only attained 

his majority in 1778, so it is likely that for most of the 18th century, the house 

saw only the bare minimum of maintenance. 

 

The heir to Shute in 1760 was an orphan three years old named John William. 

He was brought up there by an aunt, Elizabeth Anstis, his father's sister. The 

affection he felt for her is conveyed by the memorial tablet he had put up in 

Shute church after her death in 1780, on which with touching simplicity he 

describes her as ‘Amitarum optimae' - the best of aunts. This affection does not 

seem to have extended itself to the old house, however, which in his own 

epitaph he was to describe as dilapidated. As soon as he could he moved out of 

Shute, to rent Ash House, three miles away. 

 

Soon after that, in 1787, he set about building a new Shute House, on an entirely 

new site, in the light and restrained style of Robert Adam. It was set on a hill, in 

the middle of a newly-planted park, with splendid views to, and from, the sea. In 

1788 he completed the purchase of the Shute lands which had all this time been 

held on a very long lease from the Petre heirs. 

 

John William was clearly a man of progress; besides building a new house he 

was, for example, a champion of prison reform; but he also had a streak of the 

antiquarian, and the Romantic, which gave him a respect for things of the past - 

or for those which related to his own family at least. So, he changed his name to  
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William, Mary Ann and John de la Pole, children of John 

William, 6th Baronet, painted by Thomas Beach 1793 
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de la Pole, and saw to the publication of A Collection towards a Description of 

Devon,  the writings of his ancestor, Sir William the Antiquary. 

 

These rather contradictory aspects of his character were reflected in the 

treatment of old Shute House. In his role as antiquarian, he preserved the Pole 

gatehouse as an interesting entrance to his newly landscaped park, with the 

drive passing through it and on up to his modern mansion. There was an 

impediment to this scheme, however, in that across the projected drive lay the 

greater part of the Bonville house. In his role as the man of progress, therefore, 

he had this demolished, leaving only what might have been the medieval high 

end, as adapted in the Tudor period to form a service courtyard. 

 

The Romantic then stepped in:  the ‘ancient' appearance of both the gatehouse 

and the old house, with its north east wall left towering and buttressed, was 

enhanced by landscaping. By building up banks on either side of the drive - 

largely from the rubble of the demolished building, no doubt - and planting trees 

to overhang, an effect of Gothic gloom was achieved, to contrast with the 

sunlight and distant views to be met with when you emerged into the open 

space beyond. Round the gatehouse itself, the ground was made to run up to 

parapet height on refashioned screen walls, which permitted a glimpse of a 

different view over their top, and increased the sense of illusion. 

 

This landscaping might, of course, have been carried out earlier, or later, as part 

further changes in the 1870s for example. However, a likely moment for it would 

be in the middle of John William's wide-ranging transformation. The Pole 

papers certainly contain a contract and accounts for making new drives and tree-

planting at Shute between 1790-4. Moreover, people are shown peering over the 

right hand wall in an engraving of 1854, suggesting that the ground level was at 

its present height by then at least. 
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The gatehouse, Shute, by John Sell Cotman, 1802. 
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It looks as if John William sought to improve the appearance of the gatehouse in 

other ways as well. At about this time, we know from paintings that the upper 

room had an oriel window on the front, projecting to form a little bay. The mark 

where its pointed base was fixed to the wall can still be seen. Since we also 

know that this was not the original window, there is a good chance that it 

formed part of John William's remodelling of the entrance to the park. He very 

probably introduced the reused medieval timbers which frame the gate as well. 

 

He was proud enough of the result to have his three children posed in front of 

the gatehouse in the portrait painted by Thomas Beach in 1793, which now 

hangs at Antony House in Cornwall, seat of the Carew-Poles. Interestingly, this 

shows a screen of young trees planted in front of the walls which, if they ever 

existed, must have been removed later. 

 

The spirit of John William's work, if not the reality, was fully captured in the 

watercolour by John Sell Cotman, painted in about 1802, which was published 

in engraved form in Britton and Brayley's The Beauties of England and Wales in 

1803. Here the gatehouse looks powerfully Romantic and decayed, emerging 

from the mists of time.  
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The lodges 

 

What, meanwhile, had been happening at the ends of the screen walls? Our first 

clear view comes from the engraving by W. Spreat, and was first published in 

the second edition of The Book of the Axe, by George Pulman of 1854. This 

shows the screen walls as slightly shorter than now (though this could be artistic 

licence), with two storey cottages or lodges with pitched roofs at either end, 

projecting some feet in front as well as behind. On the Tithe Map of 1844, too, 

these side lodges could be seen, nearly the same size as the central tower. 

 

It is difficult to tell from the engraving whether these lodges were genuinely old, 

or whether they were cottages ornés of the kind temptingly illustrated in late 

Georgian and Regency pattern books, culminating in J.C.Loudon's 

Encyclopaedia of Cottage, Farm and Villa Architecture, published in 1833. If, as is 

most likely there were the latter, they could have been built either by John 

William or by his son and successor William Templar Pole. It is even possible 

that they were only built in 1840, when Shute Barton, as it came to be called, 

was substantially repaired and fitted out as a farmhouse.  

 

That some work was carried out to the gatehouse at about this period is 

confirmed by the fact that Spreat's engraving shows the front as no longer 

having its oriel window. Instead, it shows the same window that exists today. 

Perhaps the oriel had been more decorative than soundly made, and had leaked.  

 

At the same time, maybe, the lower part of the north west turret (now the 

bathroom) was blocked by an inserted 17th- century fireplace with a moulded 

timber surround and panelled overmantel. This was still there when Landmark 

took on the gatehouse. It looked as if it came from the house, but could have 

been moved at any time from the 1780s, if not before. In 1979, the lower room 

was the main one, undivided, whereas the upper floor had three rooms on it.
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This begs the question as to whether the gatehouse was lived in at the time of 

Spreat's engraving. Unfortunately, as regards the gatehouse proper, the 

evidence is unclear. While it could have provided a lodging for servants from at 

least the 17th century, records come only with the first full census return of 

1841. In this and the three succeeding returns, two households were listed. Did 

these occupy the two side lodges while the central building stood ornamentally 

empty?  Or did one household live in the gatehouse and one lodge, while the 

second lived in the other?  Various combinations are possible, but there are no 

definite answers as to which is the right one. 

 

In 1841 the households were listed under Lodge and Lodge Wing. Lodge housed 

a man of 30 named John Isaacs and his 3 year old daughter Mary. He was 

described as indigent, presumably meaning that he was supported by the 

parish. 

 

In Lodge Wing was a larger family, John and Mary Rust, both aged 20, with two 

small daughters, Jane and Sarah. With them lived Sirous Marwood, aged 65. 

Both John Rust and Sirous Marwood were agricultural labourers who probably 

worked for the tenant of Shute Barton, or Old Shute House as it was still called. 

This was John Dommett, a farmer of around 200 acres who was later recorded 

as employing five labourers, three of them living in his own house.   

 

The 1851 census had the buildings down as Lodge and West Lodge (there was 

an East Lodge on the far side of the park), both lived in by carpenters. In Lodge 

was Samuel Sampson, still a carpenter at 77, (possibly the same Samuel 

Sampson who had rented a smallholding on the east side of the village street in 

the Tithe Survey of 1844), with his wife Susanna. In West Lodge, as in Lodge 

Wing ten years earlier, was a larger family:  William Noris, aged 59, a 

journeyman carpenter, with his wife Mary, daughter Elizabeth Rapely, a 

lacemaker, her husband Charles, an agricultural labourer, and their daughter 

Charlotte. Interestingly, the Tithe Survey of 1844 had described the plot of land 
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in front of the gatehouse as `The Grove [marked as a plantation] and Carpenter's 

Shop'. This presumably referred to a building running south west from the 

western cottage which must still have been used for the same purpose in 1851.  

 

In 1861, the census reverted to the names of Shute Lodge and Lodge Wing. The 

Lodge as usual had the smaller household:  John Mingo, a bachelor gardener of 

29. In the wing were Samuel and Mary Solway, with their son Francis. Both 

father and son were agricultural labourers, again probably working for John 

Dommett, still tenant of Shute Barton. He had been joined there by a second 

family, that of Robert Sandford, dairyman, predictably living in the Dairy House. 

 

Ten years later, the Solways were still in one Western Lodge, though their son 

had left and instead they had a lodger called John Brown, another labourer. In a 

second Western Lodge was Job Adams, with his wife, a cabinet-maker son 

(using the carpenter's shop perhaps?), a dress-maker daughter and a grandson. 

Job Adams was listed as being a bailiff, presumably a farm manager rather than 

a debt collector, but whether he worked for the Shute estate or for the new 

tenant of Shute Barton, William Newbery, is not recorded. 
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The gatehouse in 1920, from the National Monument Record. In the 

foreground you can see the trees which once framed the approach. 
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The final stages 

 

The 1870s saw the final set of changes to the gatehouse. During this decade, the 

two side lodges were taken down and replaced by the existing pavilions, which 

echo the Elizabethan architecture of the gatehouse itself. The carpenter's shop 

also disappeared in a general tidying up. The gatehouse was now quite certainly 

habitable:  the 1881 census records just one West Lodge, lived in by an old 

Shute inhabitant, the sexton Jonah Type, aged 79, with his wife Anne, also 79. 

The new arrangement is clearly shown on the first edition of the Ordnance 

Survey 25ins to 1 mile map, surveyed in 1888. 

 

Evidence was found in 1979 that the gatehouse was thoroughly repaired at the 

same time. This included a new roof, the reinforcement of the main arch, the 

rebuilding of part of the north east wall and new render on back and sides.   

 

Changes lay in store for the Pole family, too, which were inevitably to have their 

effect on the Shute estate. Tradition lays responsibility with John William de la 

Pole, for offending rural law by building his new house in a field of standing 

corn, thus making it impossible for an eldest son ever to inherit. Reality has not 

entirely gone along with this. A greater misfortune lay in the fact that, since the 

18th century, the Poles had only had small families. When the 11th Baronet, Sir 

Frederick, died in 1926, a bachelor younger brother without nephews, his closest 

cousin was Sir John Carew-Pole of Antony in Cornwall, who descended from the 

Rev. Carolus Pole, younger son of the third baronet, who had died in 1714. 

 

There was no possibility of Sir John living at Shute, so the house was made 

ready for tenants, and in 1933 became a girl's school. In 1955, the headmistress, 

Dr. M.F. Bridie, wrote The Story of Shute. In 1975 the school closed, having only 

recently bought the freehold. The house had to be sold, and was afterwards 

converted, with much care, into flats and small houses. 
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Late Victorian photographs of the drawing room and dining room in  

Shute House. 
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Meanwhile Shute Barton went on as a tenant farm until it fell empty in 1949. Ten 

years later Sir John had it repaired and gave it to the National Trust. Successive 

tenants have cared for it since, notably Mr and Mrs Patrick Rice from 1960-1978 

(their daughter Elizabeth Rice, a wildlife artist, was Landmark's local secretary 

for some years afterwards); and from 1988 Mr and Mrs Christopher Pole-Carew, 

who also descend from Carolus Pole.  

 

The last people to live in the gatehouse were the Newbys. Mr Newby was 

caretaker to the school. His wife Mary was the daughter of a former agent for the 

Shute estate. She lived on there after his death, without running water or  

electricity until about 1958, when age and ill-health made it difficult for her to get 

up and down the narrow stairs, and she moved out. From then, until the arrival 

of the first Landmark tenants in 1981, the gatehouse stood empty. 
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The Shute House theatre 

 

The old kitchen of Shute House was converted into a miniature theatre for Sir  

Edmund, 10th and penultimate baronet, and Lady de la Pole. They lived at Shute  

from 1895-1912, when amateur theatricals and `conversation pieces' were 

popular as a way of entertaining large house parties. Dr Bridie recorded that its  

designer was an artist from Norwich, who also painted several drop-scenes. The  

brown velvet tip up seats came from a sale in Brighton. 

 

 

 
 

The Shute House theatre. 
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His [John George Reeve de la Pole's] coming of age in 1829 was 

celebrated in a manner which will never be forgotten by those who 

witnessed it. It was almost a revival of mediaeval festivity, and is not 

likely to find imitation in the superfine and kid-glove age which 

pretends to regard all heartiness as mere "vulgarity". The scene of the 

festivity was Oxen Hill (so called from the event) in the parish of 

Colyton, not far from Shute. Two fat oxen of fifty score each were 

roasted whole in the open air upon a spit which measured twenty-five 

feet long and is still preserved in Old Shute House. The process 

occupied nearly three days and nights, and at one o'clock on the 

eventful birthday the meat was cut up and distributed among the 

assembled crowd - supposed to be composed of twenty thousand 

people. The great culinary feat was immortalised in an etching by the 

famous George Cruikshank from an excellent sketch by W.H. de Merle 

Esq. 

 

The solids were in no degree disproportionate to the fluids, although 

a thousand wheaten cakes accompanied the beef. For the whole was 

washed down with six hogsheads of strong October and six of the 

delicious cider for which the neighbourhood is celebrated. The 

amusements were of all kinds, from an equestrian circus to a race 

after a greased-tail pig. Both Shute and Colyton were in a state of 

high decoration, and bands and bells made the frosty atmosphere 

quiver with their harmony. Sir William and his son arrived upon the 

hill attended by a long procession of tenantry, tradespeople, Colyton 

Club, and numerous equipages, and almost the first act of the 

generous-hearted baronet was to hold up a splendid goblet and to 

thus address the enthusiastic multitude:  "I hold in my hand my 

Family Cup. I drink to the health of our Lord the King, and may God 

bless you all, my good friends, your children and your children's 

children, to the latest generations". Mr Pole, too, drank, and thanked 

the people for their reception of his father and himself. Everything 

was in keeping. Shute House, with its overflowing larders and cellars, 

was thrown open for days. The poor were regaled to their heart's 

content, Colyton never experienced such jollification, and the whole 

countryside was in a state of rejoicing as demonstrative as is was 

undoubtedly sincere. 

 

   G. Pulman The Book of the Axe, 1854 
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The photographs on the following pages were taken for Landmark by Robert 

Chapman Ltd in 1979, to record the gatehouse before repairs began. 
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The door on the right was turned into a window by Landmark in 1980. 
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The repair of the gatehouse 

Exterior 

By 1978, when the Landmark Trust first visited Shute, the gatehouse had been 

empty for 20 years and the rate of decay was accelerating. It was clear that 

repairs should be carried out immediately, so the trustees at once agreed to take 

on a lease from the National Trust. The late Paul Pearn (of Pearn and Procter in 

Plymouth), who repaired many Landmarks, was appointed architect. Work was 

under way by the end of 1979 and completed in 1981. The builders were the 

local firm of Trivetts of Axminster. Their foreman was Philip Ford, who now 

works directly for Landmark and whose mother once worked in Shute Barton.  

 

Much of the work at Shute in fact consisted of redoing what had been done, not 

very well, in the 19th century. The first and most obvious problem was damp. 

One reason for this was a badly constructed roof, which has now been replaced 

by a more sensible one. The existing slates were reused. 

 

Largely, however, the fault lay with decayed cement render on the back and side 

walls, which prevented any moisture which got into the walls from escaping. 

When it had all been hacked off, the condition of the stonework beneath was 

worse than expected. The main brick arch supporting the back wall was 

insecure, and had to be replaced in concrete. More seriously, the parapet and 

the north east wall next to the stair turret were found to be in danger of collapse. 

A concrete ring beam was formed around the front of the building at parapet 

level, and running some way along either side, to hold it all together, with 

another smaller one lower down to secure just the stair turret. 

 

The parapet itself was then rebuilt, mainly with the original stone. Where this 

was too worn, on the crenellations for example, it was replaced with stone 

obtained from the same quarry as the original, a few miles away at Beer. Next, 

the back and side walls were given a new coat of render, but this time composed 
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lime and sand, which has the quality of allowing the wall beneath to breathe, 

letting any wet that does get in to evaporate into the atmosphere. 

 

On the front of the gatehouse the stonework was lightly cleaned, and new Beer 

stone let in where necessary to the window surrounds and mullions. The 

pointing was renewed at the same time, using lime mortar. Areas of the screen 

walls and pavilions were also repointed, and the crenellations patched with new 

stone. The upper pavilion was in better condition than the other, and closer to 

main door of the central block, so was chosen as an extra bedroom. 

 

Only very minor alterations were made to the external appearance of the 

building, such as moving the downpipes to the corners, and turning an inserted 

door in the south west wall into a window. The small window that lights the stair 

was uncovered when the old render was removed. 
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A fireplace with a late 17th-century surround and overmantel had been inserted 

into the first floor turret in what was then the main room. It looked as if it 

might have come from old Shute House, perhaps in the 1780s or in the course 

of the 19th century. Sadly it had become so rotten that it was beyond repair. 
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Interior 

The interior had suffered badly from damp:  plaster was coming off the walls, 

and most of the joinery was beyond repair. This included, sadly, the inserted 

17th- century overmantel in the lower room. The ends of some of the beams and 

joists supporting the upper floor had also rotted, making it slope badly. It had to 

be jacked up and the beams supported with steel angle irons. 

 

The plan was to reverse the 19th-century layout and have the upper floor, with 

its original fireplace and better views, as a single room again. The lower floor 

would be divided into bedrooms and bathroom. The one original chamfered 

ceiling beam was left visible. The turret in which the fireplace had been fitted 

was unblocked, the small window serving to light the bathroom, while that on 

the floor above provided a setting for the kitchen sink. 

 

For the new joinery, which included floorboards for the sitting room, skirtings 

and doors throughout, and the new stair, old well-seasoned pine was used. The 

doors were based on a design that was common around 1600. The stair is a near 

copy of the original. All the sound floorboards that survived were assembled on 

the lower floor. The lead in most of the window casements needed renewing, 

but where possible the old glass was re-used. The new window on the south-

west is made of oak, as are all the new window boards. 

 

Although care was taken not to alter the original structure, there has been one 

addition, which could almost be said to outshine its new surroundings. This is, 

of course, the fish ceiling. It dates from about 1620, and came from No. 7 Cross 

Street, Barnstaple, a house demolished in the 1930s. North Devon District 

Council had kept it in store but had finally came to the conclusion that they must 

dispose of it, for lack of space. When they heard of the restoration of Shute 

Gatehouse, however, they very generously offered to give the ceiling to 

Landmark to use if we could. It arrived at Shute in pieces which had to be 
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reassembled with great care, the missing areas filled in, and a new central 

pendant formed. All this was done by Trivetts' craftsmen.  



                                                                      Shute Gatehouse History Album 

45 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

T
h

e
 s

e
c
o

n
d

 f
lo

o
r 

h
a

d
 b

e
e

n
 d

iv
id

e
d

 i
n

to
 t

w
o

 l
a

rg
e

r 
b

e
d

ro
o

m
s
 a

n
d

 o
n

e
 s

m
a
ll

 c
lo

s
e

t 
in

 t
h

e
 1

9
th

 

c
e

n
tu

ry
. 

T
h

e
 t

w
ig

s
 h

a
d

 b
e

e
n

 d
ro

p
p

e
d

 d
o

w
n

 t
h

e
 c

h
im

n
e

y
 b

y
 j
a
c
k

d
a

w
s
. 

 



                                                                      Shute Gatehouse History Album 

46 

 

The back window on the first floor. The building was suffering badly 

from damp, mainly caused by decayed cement render on the walls. 
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The stair had been repaired many times, and had reached the end of its life. 

The new stair copied the old one as closely as possible. 
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Meanwhile, landscape works were underway, beginning with clearance of 

undergrowth around the building itself. There were some very fine elms in front 

of the gatehouse, but these had died of Dutch Elm disease and had be cut down. 

The ground all round was then smoothed out, the level in front being taken 

down to the plinths of the walls, which had become hidden over the years.  

 

More work had to be done to bring Shute Gatehouse back into good repair than 

anyone at first envisaged. In such cases it is inevitably the new work that 

dominates for a while. At the same time, we hope that by maintaining the 

standard of craftsmanship that went into making the building in the beginning, 

such a distinction between new and old becomes irrelevant, as both serve 

equally to illustrate the quality of a single, continuing, tradition. 
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Furnishing day, 1981. 
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Landmark and the Culture Recovery Fund 2020-21 

2020-21 was the year when the COVID-19 pandemic hit the UK, and for nine 

months out of twelve, Landmark had to close all its buildings, with a resulting 

cessation of the holiday income that funds our buildings’ maintenance. Vital 

projects across Britain were put on hold because of the pandemic, because of 

uncertainty about when contracts could be agreed or when specialist builders 

and craftspeople would be allowed to work onsite again. The closure of 

Landmarks for holiday bookings from March to October 2020 and again from 

December to April 2021 was a devastating blow to our finances and directly 

impacted Landmark’s maintenance budget.  

However, in autumn 2020 we were delighted to receive a grant of £1.2million 

from the government’s Culture Recovery Fund, allowing us to reignite our 

planned maintenance programme and ensure that none of our buildings fell into 

disrepair.  

Landmarks that benefitted from the Cultural Recovery Fund 2020-21 
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Under the auspices of the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport 

(DCMS), the Culture Recovery Fund was designed to secure the future of 

Britain’s museums, galleries, theatres, independent cinemas, heritage sites and 

music venues with emergency grants and loans. One strand of the Fund was the 

Heritage Stimulus Fund administered by Historic England, which included the 

Major Works Programme, source of the grant to Landmark. This transformative 

grant allowed a group of 15 critical maintenance projects at 17 Landmarks 

across England to go ahead.  

The projects directly provided employment and training for more than 130 

craftspeople, including many multi-generation family-run businesses local to our 

buildings. Masons, carpenters, architects, engineers and many more skilled 

specialists were involved across these sites, fuelling the recovery of the heritage 

sector and contributing to local economies on a national scale. Several sites 

hosted students and apprentices, providing vital opportunities at a time of great 

uncertainty.  

When the first Covid-19 lockdown was imposed in spring 2020, work was just 

about to start on much-needed external masonry repairs at Shute Gatehouse in 

Devon. Thanks to the CRF, this much-needed maintenance was soon able to 

continue as planned. Local firm Orchard Stonemasons completed work to 

repoint stretches of the main structure, turret rooms and connecting walls in 

traditional lime mortar. This preventative maintenance work will ensure the 

structure remains weather tight. 
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Extract from Greater Medieval Houses of England & Wales, A. Emery, 2006  
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Extract from Transactions of Devonshire Association, Vol 49 (1917) 
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Extract from Transactions of the Devonshire Association for the Advancement 

of Science, Literature and Art, 1957 
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